

## Designing and Delivering Residential Immersive Life Skills (RILS) Programs for Youth with Disabilities:

An evidence-based guide for service providers



# About this Guide

Residential Immersive Life Skills (RILS) programs provide meaningful opportunities for personal growth for youth with disabilities and support them as they prepare to transition into adulthood. By providing experiences and opportunities that youth with disabilities might not otherwise get, RILS programs help transform how participants view their own capabilities, identity, and competence. Research in this area has shown that youth build new skills and knowledge, increase self-confidence, and establish new self-perceptions through RILS programs. These changes continue to impact the day-to-day lives of youth and their families once the program has ended and also foster more hopeful attitudes about the future. RILS programs can have a lasting positive impact into adulthood.

This evidence-based guide will:



Explain the structure and purpose of RILS programs

- Outline how RILS programs may influence youth, parents, and service providers
- Identify the essential components and approaches used in effective RILS programs
- Showcase reflections from youth, parents, and staff who have participated in RILS programs
- Provide tools and resources to support RILS program design and delivery

#### What do we mean by parents?

When we say parents, we refer to all caregivers responsible for the primary care of a youth. This can include foster parents, grandparents, extended family members and others.

#### Who is this guide for?

Individuals or service providers who design and/or deliver RILS and related life skills programs for youth with disabilities may find this guide helpful.

Service providers may include but are not limited to [1]:

- Occupational therapists
- Therapeutic recreation specialists
- Life skills coaches
- Physical therapists
- Social workers

- Nurses
- Personal support workers
- Caregiving attendants
- Youth mentors

This guide may also be valuable for others including policy and decision makers.

# Table of Contents

1.0 About RILS Programs	4
1.1 What are RILS programs?	4
1.2 What do RILS programs accomplish?	6
Youth	6
Parents	8
Service providers	9
1.3 Life after RILS	10
2.0 Designing and Delivering RILS Programs	11
2.1 Creating a supportive program culture	12
2.2 Teaching a variety of program topics	13
2.3 Offering different learning contexts	15
2.4 Using different teaching and learning strategies	16
3.0 Conclusion	17
Acknowledgments	18
References	22



# 1.0 About RILS Programs

#### 1.1 What are RILS Programs?

The journey towards adulthood can be difficult for young people with disabilities. One contributing factor is that youth with disabilities often lack critical opportunities to develop **life skills** and peer relationships.

RILS programs help youth with disabilities between the ages of 14 to 21 years old develop and practice life skills. These programs provide them with immersive, away-from-home experiences and opportunities. Young people typically stay overnight in a university or college residence for 1 to 3 weeks where they are part of a safe and supportive learning and social environment with peers. RILS programs employ a variety of opportunities and experiences designed to help youth develop life skills that they can use in their immediate and long-term futures.

The delivery of RILS programs can be flexible and adapted based on available resources. Important features of a RILS program [2] include opportunities to:

- Be away from home for multiple days or weeks, including overnight stays
- Develop skill and confidence in activities for independent daily living
- Share intense learning and social experiences with small groups of peers

Youth have the opportunity to experience a sense of community with others with disabilities, sometimes for the first time. This can provide mutual peer support and acceptance.

I mastered the subway! Going out and exploring was exciting as I've never been on a subway before in my life. (Frankie, page 4 [3])

#### What are 'Life Skills?'

Life skills are adaptive and positive behaviours that help people:

- Make informed decisions
- Solve problems
- Think critically and creatively
- Communicate effectively
- Build healthy relationships
- Empathize with others
- Manage their lives in a healthy and productive manner

(page 8 [**4**])

Many youth with disabilities have not consistently had opportunities to develop skills or to be autonomous. The barriers youth face [5] include:

- Limited opportunities to participate in summer camp, after-school activities, and other programming
- Lack of accessibility and opportunities to develop independence in community settings
- Societal stigma, ableism, and lowered expectations about capabilities and aspirations
- Relational dynamics, e.g. parents or caregivers who are accustomed to helping with all tasks

For many youth, carefully designed RILS experiences lead to changes in life skills, and to increased selfconfidence, self-understandings, and self-advocacy. These changes empower youth, offer new possibilities for their future, and introduce youth to supports they can use to assist their independence in adulthood.

> In my family, being independent always meant having to do everything by yourself. . . my father's vision of what independence meant was that I had to physically do everything. . . I didn't even know one could live by themselves in an apartment like I do, and have [attendants] that come in and out when you need them. . . I had no idea I could live independently and not have to struggle every morning to get dressed. (Elsa, page 78 [5])

5 Designing and Delivering Residential Immersive Life Skills (RILS) Programs for Youth with Disabilities

#### 1.2 What do RILS programs accomplish?

RILS programs have been shown to have a transformational impact on youth. Parents and service providers also experience indirect positive benefits. The following section showcases the experiences and perspectives of youth, parents, and service providers.





In the short term, RILS programs promote a sense of belonging, foster participation in activities that support skill and confidence building, and develop self-understanding through challenging experiences [6].

In the long term, RILS programs can act as a 'turning point' for youth by changing how they view themselves and their outlook for the future [7].

I did actually end up going to a movie theatre alone. And I was a bit nervous but...everything worked out fine...I did that because after [RILS program] I just wanted to see how it goes and it went well, so I know I can continue doing these things outside of [RILS program].

(Amar, page 77, [5])

I knew that there were things that I had never done in my life, some that I was able to do now. So it gave me some confidence in myself that I wouldn't have had in any other way.

(Sonja, page 76 [5])

Youth who take part in RILS programs are highly motivated to attend and set their own goals. Youth may experience many immediate benefits [2]. Program activities and environments are strategically designed to:

- Build confidence and **self-efficacy**
- Let youth make their own choices, which supports autonomy and self-determination
- Help youth understand their strengths and capabilities
- Motivate them to overcome future obstacles
- Develop new notions of independence and interdependence
- Encourage youth to ask for help and advocate for their needs
- Establish a greater awareness of what is possible for their future

## What do we mean by self-efficacy?

A person's beliefs about their ability to cope with challenges and to be successful [8].

## What do we mean by self-determination?

The ability to make choices and have control over one's life [9].

### What do we mean by interdependence?

The notion that every individual depends on others to some extent [10].

### What do we mean by autonomy?

The opportunity to make meaningful choices [11].

Although each youth has different strengths and needs, RILS programs create a foundation of new skills for participants. After the program is over, additional benefits may emerge for youth over time [2, 12]. These outcomes vary for each youth, and can include:

- Greater comfort in new situations
- Increased motivation and initiative
- Greater responsibility and maturity
- Increased community involvement
- Enhanced social relationships
- Changes in identity and empowerment



Parents of RILS participants often report changes in their child's behaviour and skills immediately following participation in RILS programs.

Many parents observe that youth have a broader worldview because the program increased their awareness of supports, amplified their strengths, and prompted them to think about the future [6, 12, 13].

66

The [RILS] program is a starting point for us to back off with our hand holding a little bit and get him doing a little bit more than he can and should be doing on his own. I think we kind of overprotect and over parent. We want to back off and just let him find his own level.

(Joyce, page 142 [13])

Without that program, I don't think she would be, you know, where she is right now in her mindset...I think it opened up doors, I think it opened up her eyes. And made her stop and think...and I think it had everything to do with the fact that for [X] days she wasn't living with her Mom and Dad. So it's definitely something that...has opened her eyes and shown her that she can have a different life than what she thought about before.

(Megan's mother, page 6 [12])

In response to changes in their child, parents themselves can also develop new expectations for their child's future. Seeing youth develop new skills can demonstrate to parents—sometimes for the first time—that they do not need to do everything for their child [13].

Many parents also feel relief when they see their child gain new and valuable skills. Some experience a sense of hope that their child may be able to live a more independent life [2, 13].

RILS programs provide parents with the opportunity to:

- Realize youths' capabilities
- Reflect on and consider adapting their parenting practices
- Offer youth greater responsibility

We were already beginning to realize that we were doing too much for him. [RILS program] was like a wakeup call, a springboard to encourage us as parents to help him become independent. I was quite a profound enabler; I was almost seeing him as incapable. I'm trying to pull back on that. [RILS program] has encouraged us to be more aware of knowing when we are doing too much for [name].

(Teagan, page 142 [13])



Service providers, staff, and others who spend extended time with youth during RILS programs also witness the youths' day-to-day lives and develop a richer understanding of both the challenges and strengths they live with.





I just realized...that my job [is] as a facilitator and not as a problem solver, but to help people...empower themselves...to solve their challenges, and to find their inner strength to do so. So I...absolutely apply that in my everyday world here...

**Dignity of risk** ....[If] you want to risk doing something, then you should be allowed that opportunity to take a risk and then fail, or not, but learn from that. (Coordinator, page 976 [2])

Immersive experiences away from home help service providers view youth in more holistic ways [14]. As a result, service providers may shift their practice approach from directly meeting therapeutic needs to empowering youth. Service providers can offer practical support to youth and focus on real-world learning as part of therapeutic goal setting to prepare them for the future.



I think it helped me see the youth more as a whole person because you are with them sometimes from 7 in the morning all the way till they go to bed. So to see someone's full life like that is a really powerful experience as a clinician because sometimes I think as an OT, we focus a lot on motor skills, or very specific independent living skills. And sometimes you might not think of this huge social piece as much or ... self-advocacy.... So I think it opened me up to all these other pieces of people's lives that are so important that I may not have thought about as much before.

(Occupational Therapist, page 976 [2])

#### 1.3 Life after RILS

Youth, parents, and service providers all emphasize the important and diverse set of life skills youth acquire from participating in RILS programs. These new skills, combined with increased self-confidence and self-awareness, provide a foundation for change that allows youth to continue their growth after the program is over [12].



We didn't have staff right beside us, watching everything. If we need them, they could support us, but the responsibility was on us to take charge. (Xavier, page 5 [3]) Some youth also experience changes that emerge over time in the months after their RILS experience ends. These benefits are different according to each participant's strengths and needs, but may include greater:

- Comfort in new situations, e.g. making new friends
- Motivation and initiative, e.g. learning to drive
- Maturity and responsibility, e.g. completing household tasks
- Community involvement, e.g. finding a job

These benefits emerge when youth build on their foundation of new skills and confidence to realize their potential. In this way, RILS programs can support youth with disabilities to open doors and kick-start new life trajectories [5, 6, 12].



To actually hear [him] step up and...take control and be involved in his own life...I was thrilled. [Before RILS] he didn't really have any direction, and he didn't have any passion, and he didn't seem to be engaged in anything and then, when he decided that 'yes' he was going to college and this was the program that he wanted and...he's put, you know, heart and soul into it... he's done really, really well. Because [he] had never really seemed to have any fire under him to what he was going to do with the rest of his life...And I think the experiences from [RILS program]... gave him a bit of a boost.

(Gary's mother, page 7 [12])

# 2.0 Designing and Delivering RILS Programs

There are many elements to consider when designing and delivering an effective RILS program. Each of the key ingredients are described in the following sections, along with examples of how they can be combined to create a successful program.





#### 2.1 Creating a Supportive Program Culture

As a service provider, you play an important role in creating a supportive learning environment (i.e. the 'culture') within RILS programs. How you interact with youth can influence their experiences during and after participating in a RILS program. Using a holistic and realistic approach is important for delivering an effective and impactful RILS program [2]. Here are key considerations and tips that can help you create an optimal environment:



#### Building trust and rapport

Use strategies like collaborative problem solving to build rapport and connect with youth.



## Coaching and guiding youth

Support and engage youth by using techniques like listening, prompting, and encouraging choices.



66

#### Empowering youth

Provide youth with a sense of control and support opportunities to practice new skills through choice making, risk taking, and problem solving.

## Using non-intrusive strategies

Let youth make mistakes and learn from them. Give youth time to figure things out for themselves.



### Fostering new experiences

Facilitate youth learning new skills, negotiating relationships, and feeling pride in their accomplishments.

#### Setting and pursuing goals

Goals are an important part of RILS programs. Youth are usually encouraged to set the goals they want to work on before they arrive at the program.

If I was in the city again, I would definitely budget better next time. I had no money. I couldn't do some of the things I wanted to do. Like, I couldn't go to a movie when I was in the mall. I had freedom to make good and bad choices. I had freedom to mess up and I did.

(Frankie, page 4 [3])





#### 2.2 Teaching a Variety of Program Topics

As part of a well-rounded RILS program, it is important to use flexible approaches and embed activities that allow youth to experience choice making, facilitated goal setting, trial and error learning, and supported risk taking in everyday tasks. Programs cover a variety of topics addressing necessary life skills [15]. These topics may include:

#### Leisure and Physical Activity

- Planning and engaging in leisure, social, or recreation activities (e.g. outings)
- Playing or learning adaptive sports (e.g. wheelchair basketball, seated volleyball)
- Trying non-sport physical activities (e.g. disabled sailing, gym fitness)

#### Financial Management

- Making and following a budget
- Managing money (e.g. going to the bank, using a bank card, tipping, using financial terminology)

#### Laundry

• Learning and practicing laundry skills (e.g. looking for laundry facilities, watching a demonstration on how to do laundry, doing their own laundry)

#### Communication and Social Skills

• Learning and practicing strategies for effective communication with peers and others in social situations



#### Driving

• Exploring accessible driving options (e.g. independent driving, vehicle adaptations)

### **Directing Care**

- Learning about attendant care support
- Working with attendants for personal care and daily activities

### **School and Employment**



- Preparing for post-secondary education (e.g. applying to schools, setting up accommodations)
- Exploring career options (e.g. looking and applying for jobs, interview and résumé skill building)

#### **Time Management**

• Learning and practicing time management skills (e.g. planning and scheduling daily activities)

### **Meal Planning and Cooking**

- Planning and preparing meals (e.g. making a grocery list)
- Going to the store to buy groceries
- Cooking and food handling

#### Housing



- Exploring housing options (e.g. listening to housing experts, planning for future housing)
- Touring housing (e.g. visiting options)

### Safety

• Preparing for community safety in public and in online spaces

### **Transit Navigation**



• Learning to get around in the community by walking or navigating transit (e.g. learning how to read street signs, transit signs, and maps; finding accessible services and routes) 66

I would say the moment that kinda changed everything for me was ... we all went to the movies as, like, an outing, and we all watched movies and had dinner together, and then we talked outside while we were waiting for [accessible transit] for just over an hour and... It's crazy how much you get to know people in just an hour, like I saw everyone in a whole different light. ... I just talked to people on a whole other level than I've talked to anyone else in my whole life.

(Melissa, page 5 [16])

#### Selecting topics and activities: Key considerations

When developing your program, it is important to think about what type of learning context and activities are most helpful and appropriate for addressing youth goals and priorities. Consider the following:

- Type of life skills you are helping youth to build
- Topics of interest and relevance
- Number of participants you are working with
- Abilities and learning styles of participants
- Length of your program
- Available staff, community, and budget resources





66

[Staff member] showed us how to use online interactive maps, like, putting in the address, but after that he stepped back and let us find the bus. (Jordan, page 5 [3])



#### 2.3 Offering Different Learning Contexts

It is important to provide both structured and unstructured learning opportunities in RILS programs to encourage skill development and growth [17]. Below are examples of varied approaches that can help you build your RILS program:

Learning Context			
		Structured activity	Unstructured activity
Type of Learning	Instructional learning	<ul> <li>Formal teaching and learning techniques are used to provide information about specific life skills and topics to youth.</li> <li>e.g. classroom lectures, demonstrations, and guest speakers on topics such as budgeting, nutrition, and internet safety</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>'Real-world' excursions and outings where youth have freedom to explore, make choices, and self-direct.</li> <li>Accompanied by staff who provide non-intrusive support and enablement.</li> <li>Youth have freedom to make decisions and try new things, which increases self-efficacy and confidence.</li> <li>e.g. grocery shopping, meals in a restaurant, movies</li> </ul>
	Experiential or situated learning	<ul> <li>Opportunities outside the classroom to get hands-on learning in real-world settings.</li> <li>Organized by the program, often for the entire group.</li> <li>Youth try out new activities and practice applying skills they have learned.</li> <li>e.g. visits to the bank, taking public transit</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>During unsupervised after-hours activities, youth have a chance to make decisions, navigate conflict, and solve problems.</li> <li>Peer-to-peer learning fosters personal growth.</li> <li>Youth develop friendships, have meaningful conversations with their peers, socialize, and have fun.</li> <li>e.g. evening conversations, roommate relationships</li> </ul>

#### Pairing activities and strategies

Pairing different learning contexts with the right combination of activities and evidence-based strategies will help youth:

- Understand, develop, and apply life skills
- Become confident with their skills
- Learn to work and cooperate with others
- Bond with their peers
- Establish a sense of empowerment and control

Taking this varied approach will keep youth engaged and help you to deliver information more effectively [1, 15].



## **2.4** Using Different Teaching and Learning Strategies

As a service provider, you can use a variety of different evidence-based strategies to help deliver your RILS program. The Service Provider Strategies-Checklist (SPS-C) [18] is available to help guide your programming [19]. Examples of strategies and techniques from the SPS-C are presented below: Choose methods and techniques that meet the needs of youth and of your program. For a longer list of strategies, download the complete <u>SPS-C</u>.

## Socially-mediated strategies

Using relationships and being in a group environment to create learning opportunities **Examples:** 

- Having a youth who is familiar with the skill explain and model it to those who are not
- Encouraging youth to interact with peers and support one another

### **Cognitive strategies**

Assisting youth with using their mind (cognition) to solve a problem or a task

#### **Examples:**

- Helping youth to break an activity into smaller steps or tasks
- Teaching youth a task step-by-step, and allowing youth to master each step before teaching the next

#### Teaching/learning techniques

Using strategies and techniques to enable youth learning **Examples:** 

- Praising and acknowledging youth for successfully completing a task
- Showing youth how to complete a task and encouraging them to imitate the task

### Non-intrusive strategies

Supporting youth without intervening

#### **Examples:**

- Refraining from intervening until the youth asks for help
- Using teachable moments to create a rich learning experience

#### **Physical interventions**

Physically assisting youth

#### **Examples:**

- Providing "hands-on" help, at the youth's request, to ensure successful performance
- Guiding performance though a slight touch

Be creative with how you put these strategies into action to support youth in your RILS program. Tools you can use include:

- Creating tip sheets
- Role playing
- Leveraging technology (e.g. smart phones, tablets)
- Using apps and online tools (e.g. transit, maps)

# 3.0 Conclusion

The aim of this evidence-based guide is to offer service providers information and tools to help them design and deliver RILS programs. The guide has:

- Explained the structure and purpose of effective RILS programs
- Outlined how RILS programs influence youth, parents, and service providers
- Identified the essential components and approaches used in effective RILS programs
- Showcased reflections from youth, parents, and staff who have experienced RILS programs

The guide also provides strategies and tools that are actionable, evidence-based, and can be tailored to enhance program design and delivery in your context. This is especially important as practice settings and the needs of the youth and families being supported will differ across organizations.

We hope that this guide provides practical support to individuals who design and deliver life skills programs targeting youth with disabilities. This guide aims to impact the work of all those who help youth with disabilities develop critical life skills and transform how youth and their families navigate the transition to adulthood.



# **YYY** Acknowledgments

#### **RILS Guide Development Team**

#### **Academic Leads**

**Gillian King**, PhD, Distinguished Senior Scientist, Bloorview Research Institute, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital; Professor, Department of Occupational Science and Occupational Therapy and Rehabilitation Sciences Institute, University of Toronto; Canada Research Chair (Tier I) in Optimal Care for Children with Disabilities

**Amy C. McPherson**, PhD, Senior Scientist, Bloorview Research Institute, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital; Associate Professor, Dalla Lana School of Public Health and Rehabilitation Sciences Institute, University of Toronto

**Shauna Kingsnorth**, PhD, Manager, Evidence to Care, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital; Assistant Professor, Department of Occupational Science and Occupational Therapy and Rehabilitation Sciences Institute, University of Toronto

#### **Knowledge Translation Leads**

**Kathleen M. Einarson**, PhD, Knowledge Translation Specialist, Bloorview Research Institute, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, Toronto, ON.

**Christine Provvidenza**, MSc, R.Kin., Knowledge Translation Lead, Evidence to Care, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, Toronto, ON.

**Sunitha Ravi Kumar**, BHSc, Knowledge Broker, Bloorview Research Institute, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, Toronto, ON.

#### How to cite this document

King, G., McPherson, A.C., Kingsnorth, S., \*Einarson, K.M. & \*Provvidenza, C. (2021). Designing and Delivering Residential Immersive Life Skills (RILS) Programs for Youth with Disabilities: An evidence-based guide for service providers. Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital. Toronto: ON.

\*Authors contributed equally to the conceptualization, design and creation of the RILS guide.



#### **Copyright and Licensing**

Designing and Delivering Residential Immersive Life Skills (RILS) Programs for Youth with Disabilities: An evidence-based guide for service providers © 2021 Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, authored by King, G., McPherson, A.C., Kingsnorth, S., Einarson, K.M. & Provvidenza, C is licensed under <u>CC BY-NC 4.0</u>

This guide is designed to be shared, adapted, and built upon. Please feel free to modify and tailor to your own community under the Creative Commons license terms <u>CC BY-NC 4.0</u> requiring attribution to the original authors and non-commercial use.

### Ontario Independence Program Research (OIPR) Team (in alphabetical order)

The Ontario Independence Program Research (OIPR) Team is a group of researchers, managers, and clinicians from various service organizations and universities in Ontario who have been conducting research on residential immersive life skills programs since 2014.

Brenna Buchanan, BRLS, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, Toronto, ON.

Andrea DeFinney, BSc, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, Toronto, ON.

Celeste Duff, PhD, Bloorview Research Institute, Toronto, ON.

Tanya Eimantas, MSc, OT Reg. (Ont.), ErinoakKids Centre for Treatment and Development, Brampton, ON.

Jan Willem Gorter, PhD, MD, CanChild Centre for Childhood Disability Research, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON.

Laura Hartman, PhD, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, Toronto, ON.

Ana Maria Isihi, BHSc OT, OT Reg. (Ont.), ErinoakKids Centre for Treatment and Development, Brampton, ON.

Kim Jones-Galley, MEd, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, Toronto, ON.

Barbara Kehl, BSc OT, OT Reg. (Ont.), ErinoakKids Centre for Treatment and Development, Oakville, ON.

Andrea Morrison, MRSc, OT Reg. (Ont.), McMaster Children's Hospital, Hamilton, ON.

Donya Mosleh, MA, Bloorview Research Institute, Toronto, ON.

Madhu Pinto, MASP, Bloorview Research Institute, Toronto, ON.

Jesiqua Rapley, MA, Bloorview Research Institute, Toronto, ON.

Alanna Rudzik, PhD, State University of New York College at Oneonta, Oneonta, NY.

Diane Savage, MSW, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, Toronto, ON.

Natalie Timbrell, BA, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, Toronto, ON.

#### **Expert Reviewers**

Andrea DeFinney, BSc, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, Toronto, ON.
Jan Willem Gorter, PhD, MD, CanChild Centre for Childhood Disability Research, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON.
Barbara Kehl, BSc OT, OT Reg. (Ont.), ErinoakKids Centre for Treatment and Development, Oakville, ON.
Andrea Morrison, MRSc, OT Reg. (Ont.), McMaster Children's Hospital, Hamilton, ON.
Alanna Rudzik, PhD, State University of New York College at Oneonta, Oneonta, NY.

#### **Institutional Partners**

The OIPR team includes researchers and clinicians from three collaborating children's treatment centres in Ontario:

- Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital
- ErinoakKids Centre for Treatment and Development
- McMaster Children's Hospital





#### Conflict of interest declaration

The academic leads of the RILS Guide development team (GAK, ACM, SK) authored most of the publications cited in this resource. The knowledge translation leads (KME, CP, SRK) have no conflicts of interest to declare.

#### Funding

Funding for the Ontario Independence Program Research team was provided by a Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council (SSHRC) Insight Grant, with additional support from Holland Bloorview's Centre for Leadership in Participation and Inclusion, and the Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital Foundation. The development team would also like to recognize both Evidence to Care and the Bloorview Research Institute for their continued support of this work.



#### **User Consideration**

This Guide is a compilation of research evidence for individuals who are developing residential immersive life skill programs for youth with disabilities.

The Guide is provided for educational purposes only. It is not intended as medical or professional advice or opinion. Individuals are required to exercise their own judgment in using this Guide. You assume full responsibility for how you choose to use this information. Application of any information contained in this Guide should be based on individual/patient needs, the relevant circumstances, and the local context.

Neither Holland Bloorview nor any of the contributors to/authors of this Guide are providing medical, diagnostic, or treatment services through the information contained in this Guide.

#### **Contact information**

#### Gillian King, PhD

Distinguished Senior Scientist Canada Research Chair (Tier I) in Optimal Care for Children with Disabilities Professor, Department of Occupational Science and Occupational Therapy, University of Toronto Bloorview Research Institute, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital 50 Kilgour Road, Toronto, ON M4G 1R8 1.416.425.6220 x 3323 gking@hollandbloorview.ca

#### Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital

Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital is Canada's largest children's rehabilitation hospital dedicated to improving the lives of children with disabilities. As a fully affiliated hospital with the University of Toronto, we are home to the Bloorview Research Institute and the Teaching and Learning Institute, allowing us to conduct transformational research and train the next generation of experts in childhood disability. For more information please visit <u>www.hollandbloorview.ca</u>



# 🖵 References

- McPherson, A. C., King, G., Rudzik, A., Kingsnorth, S., & Gorter, J. W. (2016). Optimizing life success through residential immersive life skills programs for youth with disabilities: study protocol of a mixed-methods, prospective, comparative cohort study. *BMC Pediatrics, 16*, Article 153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12887-016-0694-7</u>
- King, G., McPherson, A., Kingsnorth, S., Stewart, D., Glencross-Eimantas, T., Gorter, J. W., Jones-Galley, K., Morrison, A., & Isihi, A. M. (2015). Residential immersive life skills programs for youth with disabilities: service providers' perceptions of experiential benefits and key program features. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 37(11), 971–980. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638288.2014.949353
- Duff, C., McPherson, A. C., King, G., & Kingsnorth, S. (2020). Deconstructing residential immersive life skills programming through a pedagogical lens: mechanisms that can facilitate learning for youth with disabilities. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, 20(2), 121–129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-3802.12470</u>
- World Health Organization. (2003). <u>Skills for health: Skills-based health education including life skills:</u> <u>An important component of a child-friendly/health-promoting school.</u> World Health Organization's Information series on School Health - Document 9. [accessed 2021 August 18].
- McPherson, A. C., Rudzik, A., Kingsnorth, S., King, G., Gorter, J. W., & Morrison, A. (2018). "Ready to take on the world": Experiences and understandings of independence after attending residential immersive life skills programs for youth with physical disabilities. *Developmental Neurorehabilitation*, 21(2), 73–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/17518423.2016.1141254</u>
- Kingsnorth, S., Rudzik, A. E. F., King, G., & McPherson, A. C. (2019). Residential immersive life skills programs for youth with disabilities: a case study of youth developmental trajectories of personal growth and caregiver perspectives. *BMC Pediatrics, 19*, Article 413. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12887-019-1793-z</u>
- Kingsnorth, S., King, G., McPherson, A., & Jones Galley, K. (2015). A retrospective study of past graduates of a residential life skills program for youth with physical disabilities. *Child: Care, Health* and Development, 41(3), 374–383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.12196</u>
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191–215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0146-6402(78)90002-4</u>
- 9. Wehmeyer, M. L., Agran, M., Hughes, C., Martin, J. E., Mithaug, D. E., & Palmer, S. B. (2007). *Promoting self-determination in students with developmental disabilities.* New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- 10. Condeluci, A. (1991). Interdependence: The route to community. Delray Beach, FL: St. Lucie Press.
- 11. Grant, A. (2014). Autonomy support, relationship satisfaction and goal focus in the coach-coachee relationship: Which best predicts coaching success? *Coaching: An International Journal of Theory, Research and Practice*, 7(1), 18–38. https://doi.org/10.1080/17521882.2013.850106
- King, G., Kingsnorth, S., Morrison, A., Gorter, J. W., DeFinney, A., & Kehl, B. (2021). Parents' perceptions of the foundational and emergent benefits of residential immersive life skills programs for youth with disabilities. *Research in Developmental Disabilities, 110,* Article 103857. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2021.103857</u>
- Duff, C., King, G., McPherson, A. C., Kingsnorth, S., & Rudzik, A. E. F. (2019). Residential immersive life skills programs for youth with disabilities: Experiences of parents and shifts in parenting approaches. *Journal of Adolescence*, 77, 139–146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2019.10.015</u>

- King, G., McPherson, A., Kingsnorth, S., Stewart, D., Glencross-Eimantas, T., Jones-Galley, K., Morrison, A., Isihi, A. M., & Gorter, J. W. (2015). Residential immersive life skills programs for youth with disabilities: service providers' perceptions of change processes. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 37(26), 2418–2428. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/09638288.2015.1031285</u>
- 15. King, G., McPherson, A., Mosleh, D., Hartman, L., Rapley, J., & Pinto, M. (2018). Program opportunities of residential immersive life skills programs for youth with disabilities. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 83, 233–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2018.09.003
- 16. King, G., Hartman, L. R., McPherson, A., DeFinney, A., Kehl, B., Rudzik, A., & Morrison, A. (2020). Exploring the after-hours social experiences of youth with disabilities in residential immersive life skills programs: A photo elicitation study. *Disability and Rehabilitation*. Advance online publication. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2020.1855262</u>
- King, G., Batorowicz, B., Rigby, P., McMain-Klein, M., Thompson, L., & Pinto, M. (2014). Development of a measure to assess youth self-reported experiences of activity settings (SEAS). *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education*, 61(1), 44–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1034912X.2014.878542</u>
- King, G., Kingsnorth, S., McPherson, A., Jones-Galley, K., Pinto, M., Fellin, M., Timbrell, N., & Savage, D. (2016). Residential immersive life skills programs for youth with physical disabilities: A pilot study of program opportunities, intervention strategies, and youth experiences. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 55, 242–255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2016.04.014</u>
- King, G., McPherson, A. C., Kingsnorth, S., Gorter, J. W., & DeFinney, A. (2019). Intervention strategies in residential immersive life skills programs for youth with disabilities: a study of active ingredients and program fidelity. *Developmental Neurorehabilitation*, 22(5), 303–311. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17518423.2018.1497722</u>

